UNITED STATES
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

BEFORE THE ADMINISTRATOR

In the M atter of:

Robert K. Tebay, Jr.
d/b/a
Tebay Dairy Company* Docket No. EPCRA-111-236

Respondent,

N N N N N

INITIAL DECISION
This case involves facilities that store hazardous chemicdls, in thisinstance gasoline and diesl
fud, and thefiling respongibilities that attend such storage. It was initiated on September 30, 1998 by
the filing of acomplaint pursuant to Section 325 of the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-
Know Act of 1986 (“EPCRA"), 42 U.S.C. § 11045. Complainant, the United States Environmental
Protection Agency (“EPA™) subsequently filed two amended administrative complaints, the first on
April 22, 1999, and the second on June 10, 1999. The Court granted the second motion to amend

the Complaint on October 13, 1999. In its second amended form, the Complaint charges Tebay Dairy

1By dtipulation the parties agreed that the individual respondent should be ‘ Robert,” not ‘ John,
Tebay.

2Following Respondent’s May 7, 1999 reply to EPA’s first Motion to Amend the Complaint,
EPA withdrew the motion and subsequently filed its Second Motion to Amend. The Second Amended
Complaint clarified the time period involved in Count |, dropped charges regarding Tebay’ s dleged
failure to submit Emergency and Hazardous Chemicd Inventory Formsto the Local Emergency
Planning Committee (“LEPC”) for Counts |1 and 111, and dismissed entirdly Count IV. Asa
consequence of these amendments, the proposed penalty was reduced.



Company (“Tebay” or “Respondent”) with three counts of violating EPCRA. In Count |, EPA dleges
that Tebay faled to submit either Materid Safety Data Sheets (“MSDS’ or “data sheets’) or alist of
hazardous chemicdss, identifying regular grade gasoline, plus grade gasoline, supreme grade gasoline,
and died fud to the West Virginia State Emergency Response Commission (“SERC”) by at least April
1, 1995, and that such failure constitutes a violation of section 311 of EPCRA3. Count |1 alleges that
Tebay failed to submit an Emergency and Hazardous Chemica Inventory Form (“EHF’ or “Tier |1

Form”) to the SERC for the calendar year 1994 for regular grade gasoline, plus grade gasoline,

3Section 311(a)(1) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11021(a)(1), providesin pertinent part the
following with respect to the submisson of an MSDS or list:

The owner or operator of any facility which is required to
prepare or have available amateria safety data sheet for a
hazardous chemica under the Occupationa Safety and Hedlth
Act of 1970 [OSHA]...shdl submit a materid safety data sheet for each
such chemicd, or alist of such chemicals...to each of the
fallowing:

(A) The appropriate locad emergency planning committee.
(B) The State emergency response commission.
(C) The fire department with jurisdiction over the facility.

A ligt submitted in lieu of an MSDS, pursuant to section 311(8)(2), must include the following:

(i) A list of hazardous chemicas for which a[MSDS] isrequired
under [OSHA] and regulations promulgated under that Act,
grouped in categories of hedth and physical hazards....

(i) The chemica name or the common name of each such
chemical as provided on the[MSDS].

(iif) Any hazardous component of each such chemica as provided
on the[MSDS).



supreme grade gasoline, and diesdl fud, in violation of section 312 of EPCRA,* while Court |11,
aleging the same violaion as Count 11, pertains to cendar year 1995. Complainant seeks a pendty in
the amount of $7,500 for Count I, and $1,500 each for Counts |1 and |11, for atotal penalty of
$10,500. An evidentiary hearing was held on October 19 and 20, 1999 in Parkersburg, West Virginia
For the reasons that follow, the Court finds that the Tebay Dairy Company isnot ligble for
Count | of the Complaint, as EPA failed to prove aviolation of Section 311 of EPCRA and that, while
Tebay conceded the fact of violation for Counts Il and 111, these violations warrant no more than a
nomind pendty in thisingtance.
Findings and Conclusons

The violations aleged in this case arose out of an ingpection, conducted by EPA in August

“Section 312(a)(1) of EPRCA, 42 U.S.C. § 11022(a)(1) providesin relevant part, the
fallowing:

The owner or operator of any facility which isrequired to
prepare or have available amateria safety data sheet for a
hazardous chemica under the Occupationa Safety and Hedlth

Act of 1970 [OSHA]...shdl prepare and submit an emergency

and hazardous chemicd inventory form [EHF] to each of the

following:

(A) The gppropriate local emergency planning committee.
(B) The State emergency response commission.
(C) Thefire department with juridiction over the fecility.

Section 312(d)(1) provides that the information in the form isto include, annualy, in aggregate
form for each category, an estimate of the maximum amount of hazardous chemicd, an estimate of the
average dally and the generd location of the chemicdl.



1997, of the Tebay Dairy facility in Parkersburg, West Virginia. Tebay Dairy isasole proprietorship
owned by Robert K. Tebay, . His son, John Tebay, isemployed by Tebay Dairy aswell. A
misnomer now, “Tebay Dairy” has not operated asadairy snce 1989. Since then the facility has
operated only as a Chevron Gasoline tation and a convenience store. R's Post-Hearing Brief at 1.

In pursuit of its Food and Kindred Products Enforcement Agreement Initiative, EPA sent, in
November 1996, a compliance assistance letter to facilities believed to be subject to this undertaking,
asking them whether they were required to report to EPA under EPCRA. Testimony of Carole
Dougherty, Tr. a 775 EPA sent thisletter to Tebay becauseit believed it was adairy.® Fadilitiesthat
failed to respond to the initial compliance letter were then sent show cause letters asking them to
demongtrate why they need not report under EPCRA. Id. When Tebay failed to respond to the initid
letter, EPA sent a show cause letter to the facility. After Tebay did not respond to the show cause
letter, EPA targeted the facility for ingpection. Id. at 80. On July 31, 1997, EPA telephoned Tebay,

informing that it had been targeted for ingpection by its fallure to respond to the earlier letters.

SCarole Dougherty isthe Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Coordinator for
EPA Region |11 in Philadephia. Testimony of Dougherty, Tr. & 71. Ms. Dougherty’ s responsibilities
include targeting EPCRA ingpections, determining compliance with EPCRA, and preparing
enforcement actions. 1d. at 72-3. Inthis capacity, Ms. Dougherty works with the SERCs, LEPCs,
and with locd fire departments thet initiate the contact. 1d.

®At the time of the mailings, EPA bdlieved the Tebay facility operated asadairy. Such
operations fell within the scope of EPA’sinitiative. From 1975 to 1989, the current Tebay location
was used for the processing, bottling, and sales operations of thedairy. C'sExhibit 1. However, the
facility had not operated as a dairy since 1989. According to EPA, it did not know that the facility had
ceased to carry on dairy operations when it was targeted for ingpection. Apparently, it was not until the
time of ingpection that EPA learned of the operations of the facility.
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Tegtimony of Kenneth Wright.” Tr. at 33, 65. Theresfter, on August 27, 1997, Bob Donahue®, and
Kenneth Wright arrived a the facility to conduct the ingpection. At that time they presented Tebay with
anotice of ingpection. The purpose of the ingpection was to determine the facility’ s compliance with
the regulations liged in the natice. 1d. at 38; C' s Exhibit 1, Attachment A. By ingpecting, EPA sought
to assess whether Tebay stored any hazardous chemicas at the facility in quantities exceeding the
regulatory thresholds. The ingpection reveded the storage of regular grade unleaded gasoline, plus
grade unleaded gasoline, supreme grade unleaded gasoline, and diesd fud, dl of which are hazardous
chemicds. R'sPost Hearing Brief a 1-2. These stored hazardous chemicas were determined to be in
amounts in excess of the EPCRA reporting thresholds. R's Answer a 3. During the caendar years
1994 and 1995, Tebay stored these chemicals a the Site in amounts greater than the 10,000 pound
threshold for each chemica. Upon the conclusion of the inspection, EPA ingpectors informed
Respondent that because it stored gasoline and diesdl fud in quantities greater than the threshold for

reporting, it was subject to the requirements under EPCRA sections 311 and 312.° 1d. at 51.

"Mr. Wright is an environmental consultant with Dynamac Corporation, which contracts with
EPA through Booz-Allen Hamilton, to provide support with enforcement and pollution prevention. Tr.
a 27. Inthiscapacity, Mr. Wright performs EPCRA ingpections. Id.

Typicdly, EPA provides atargeted facility with two weeks notice of the pending ingpection. In
the case at hand, EPA afforded Tebay proper notice by informing Tebay over two weeks in advance of

the ingpection.
8Bob Donahue dso is a Dynamac employee.

°During the time of the dleged violations, owners or operators of afacility were reguired to
submit MSDS forms and EHF forms to the SERC and other entities for “dl hazardous chemicals
present at the facility at any one time in amounts equa to or greater than 10,000 pounds....” 40 C.F.R.
§ 370.20(1) and (2). Subsequently, on June 8, 1998, EPA proposed modificationsto thisrule,
increasing the reporting threshold for hazardous chemicals. 63 Fed. Reg. 31,268 (1998). Seedso
discussoninfraat 12-14. Therule became fina on February 11, 1999 with the new thresholds set at
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Count |
Failureto submit MSDSsor List tothe SERC by April 1, 1995

With respect to Count I, as discussed above, EPA charged Respondent with a violation of
EPCRA § 311, dleging that it failed to submit data sheets or alist of hazardous chemicals stored at the
Tebay Dairy facility by April 1, 1995. The data sheets provide information regarding hazards and
safety concernsfor the particular chemicalsidentified. Tr. 91-92. EPA argues that Respondent, as an
“owner or operator” of a“facility,” under EPCRA 8 311, was responsible for preparing the data
sheets, or alig, for hazardous chemicals stored at its facility where they met or exceeded the specified
threshold levels and for providing the SERC with those forms. C's Post-Hearing Brief at 7.

EPA maintains that there is no evidence demongtrating that Tebay submitted the data sheets or
ligsin question to the SERC.X° C’s Post-Hearing Brief at 8. According to the testimony of EPA
witness Laverne Muncy, the Secretary for the West Virginia SERC, severa searches of the SERC files

faled to reved these documents. Tr. 125. Lending support to EPA’s argument, Mr. Wright testified

75,000 gdlonsfor gasoline and 100,000 gdlonsfor diesd fud. See 40 C.F.R. § 370.20.

OWhile not determinative of liability, it is il worth noting thet in its origind Complaint EPA
aleged that Tebay had not submitted MSDSs or alist of hazardous chemicalsto either the SERC or
the Locad Emergency Planning Committee (“LEPC”). Tebay’s Answer denied ligbility and noted thet it
had found, within its own records, a copy of the MSDS report filed with the LEPC and that another
copy of afiled MSDS report had been found at the locd fire department. From the very beginning,
Tebay chalenged the reiability of the recordkeeping for the state and local authorities, asserting that
their filings were haphazard at best. Thereafter, EPA filed a Second Amended Complaint in which,
after reiterating the obligation to file with both the LEPC and the SERC, it dropped the claim that
Tebay had faled to file the MSDS with the LEPC. The section at issue, EPCRA Section 311, 42
U.S.C. § 11021, requires that aMSDS be submitted to the LEPC, the SERC and the fire department
with jurisdiction over the facility. Thus, implicitly, the Court is being asked to accept that Tebay, with
no dlegation that it failed to comply with submitting MSDSs ether to the LEPC or to the locd fire
department, nevertheess failed to submit the MSDS to one of the three required entities, the SERC.
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that during the on-gite ingpection of the facility Tebay did not provide any documentation supporting its
clam that indeed it had submitted the formsto the SERC. Tr. & 41. EPA clamsthat, based on the
testimony offered by these witnesses, it has made a prima facie case that the Respondent never
submitted the required documentsto the SERC. C's Post-Hearing Brief at 9.

EPA dso pointsto caselaw it views as supportive of its arguments againgt Tebay, observing
that the * presumption of regularity” appliesto an agency’s recordkeeping. In the instant matter EPA
argues that the presumption operates to support its assertion that the SERC never received the required
documents from Respondent. In making this argument, EPA relies primarily on two Toxic Substances

Control Act (“TSCA”) adminigrative decisons. In the Matter of Chematar Inc., 1987 WL 109690

(EPA June 12, 1987), and In the Matter of Chemisphere Corporation, 1987 WL 109688 (EPA May

8, 1987). These cases focus on the proof of ddivery for required paperwork submitted to the United
States Customs Agency by private parties. In both cases, the respondents, as importers of chemica
substances, were required to provide certification at the point of entry of a shipment, that a particular
shipment was or was not subject to TSCA. The importersin these cases used third party brokersto
asss with this process. Brokerstypicaly prepared the package of documents for the importers, after
which they were ddivered to Customs by private messenger service. Customsdid not provide the
importers with areceipt confirming that the certification accompanied the shipment. In both cases,
when the package of documents reached Customs, it found that the shipments did not contain the
proper certification. Upon this determination, Customs contacted EPA, which then initiated the
adminigrative actions. Even though various witnesses for the respondentsin those cases testified that

the shipments indeed were prepared with a certification, the judge found that EPA had made aprima



facie case that no certification was received by Customs and that the respondents did not present

evidence that convincingly rebutted EPA’s argument.

EPA suggests that these cases present andogous issues and provide precedent to the questions
inissue here. It assertsthat based on the fact that the SERC has no record of the MSDS forms or lists
in dispute, aprimafacie case that Tebay failed to submit these materids to the SERC has been
established. EPA urgesthe Court to find in its favor in the ingant matter, arguing that, asin Chematar
and Chemisphere, the Respondent in this case failed to present adequate rebutta evidence
demondtrating that it did in fact submit the required documents.

In response to EPA’ s argument that the “presumption of regularity” appliesin this case, Tebay
argues that, in contrast to the customs cases, the recordkeeping practices at the West Virginia SERC
were unrdiable, casting doubt on EPA’ s assertion that Tebay did not submit to the SERC the required
MSDSformsor lists a least by April 1, 1995. In chalenging EPA’s assartion that it did not submit the
required forms to the SERC, Tebay points out that the SERC did not maintain in its files copies of
documents that were submitted by Respondent in previous years. R's Post-Hearing Brief at 4-5. To
illugtrate this, Tebay assertsthat the Tier 11 reportsit submitted to the SERC, the Local Emergency
Planning Commission (LEPC), and the loca fire department, for caendar years 1988 and 1992, were
not found within the SERC records. 1d. Tebay additiondly chdlenges the presumption of regularity by
cdling into question the procedures used at the SERC to safeguard submitted documents. It notes that
the records on file a the SERC were stored in an unlocked file cabinet in aroom that aso functioned as

akitchen and conference dte. Tr. at 152-53. In her testimony, West Virginia SERC Secretary Ms.



Muncy conceded that many people comein and out of the room where the documents are held. Id.
The fact that the documents housed at the SERC were not secured, Tebay asserts, supportsits position
that the documents were submitted by Tebay, but were mishandled once they arrived a the SERC.

R’s Post-hearing Brief at 4-5.

Tebay aso points to the testimony of William Ferguson, the former fire chief of thelocd fire
department, to which these forms also were required to be sent.* Mr. Ferguson tedtified that the fire
department began receiving MSDS forms, ligts, and Tier |1 reports in gpproximately 1987 or 1988. Tr.
271. At that time, the fire department began receiving the documents from Tebay, and according to
Mr. Ferguson, Tebay was the only gasoline retailer or distributor in the area to submit this information
to the fire department. Tr. 272. Infact, Mr. Ferguson stated that Tebay was the only gasoline retailer
in the area ever to submit these documents.’? |d. Tebay argues that the testimony of Mr. Ferguson
demondrates that it acted congstently in the past with respect to the submisson of the formsin
question. As such, Tebay concludes that the poor recordkeeping practices of the SERC inevitably led

to the disgppearance of the documents Tebay allegesit submitted.®

1william Ferguson was a member of the Blennerhasset Fire Department from 1967 to 1993,
where he wasfire chief for 25 years. Tr. 266.

2Fire Chief Ferguson aso testified that Tebay sent Tier 1l reports to the fire department every
year, and that they aways contained the same information. Tr. at 273-274.

13Tebay hasraised aclam that, as applied, the EPCRA provisions involved in this litigation
violate its due process rights. This argument is based on the claim that the burden to prove that the
filings were received by the state agency has been placed on the respondent even though thereisno
requirement for certified or registered mailings. Asthe state agency has the duty to monitor filings, it is
incumbent upon it to have a mechanism for naotice of receipt of thosefilings. Tebay dso assarts that the
regulation failsto give fair notice of the prohibited conduct and the pendty that could be imposed. Ladt,
Tebay assertsthat EPA’ s change to the regulation, raising the threshold reporting requirements,
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Additionaly, Robert Tebay testified that in 1987, when the regulations went into effect, he
attended at least one seminar given by Chevron on the subject of these reporting requirements. Tr.
183. Heidentified a Retail Marketers Guidebook, provided at that seminar, which he consulted for
filing the data sheets. Tr. 186. Having attended the seminar, he affirmed that he knew that Tebay was
subject to the EPCRA reporting requirements and he disclosed that he kept a copy of the MSDS
reports for caendar year 1988 in the guidebook. 1d. To his knowledge, Chevron never notified him of
any change in the MSDS data after that time. Tr. 193.

Based on the testimony presented at the hearing, the Court is persuaded that Respondent has
adequately rebutted the charges made againgt it by EPA. A number of considerations lead to this
concluson. First, Ms. Muncy testified that the SERC was not the original responsible agency for
maintaining these reporting requirements. She informed:

When EPCRA was signed into law in 1986, the Department of

Natura Resources in the State of West Virginia, and then the
Bureau for Public Hedth were, at that time, the responsible

demonstrates that the regulation did not serve the purpose for which it was enacted. 1n response, EPA
assarts that there was sufficient notice of the ingpection and the potential pendties, and it interprets
Tebay's arguments as a claim that the penalty sought is so grosdy disproportionate as to condtitute a
violation of due process. EPA counters that de minimus pendlties have no deterrent effect and risk
being regarded as merdly acost of doing business.

The due process claim isrgected. Tebay miscasts the burden of proof. It is EPA that hasthe
burden to show that the forms were not received, a burden it met, initidly, through the testimony of the
Secretary of the West Virginia SERC, as aided by the presumption of regularity. However, as noted
infra, the Court finds that Respondent successfully rebutted the primafacie case. Further, thereisno
vdid clam asto ether notice of the violative conduct or the potential pendties, as the Satute and
regulations clearly spell these out. The Court also notes that the total $10,500 penalty EPA seeksin
this matter compares with the satutory provisions which dlow up to a $10,000 penalty for a Section
311 vidlation and up to $25,000 for each Section 312 violation. Given that the statute would permit up
to a$60,000 total pendty for the three Counts, the pendties sought here can not be viewed as so
disproportionate as to violate Respondent’ s due process.
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agencies. It went from DNR to Hedth, and thenin 1988, those
records resided in our office.

Tr. 140 (emphasis added).

Although the Court accepts that severa reviews of the SERC records failed to show any MSDS
submission by Tebay, the absence of such records must be measured againg the fact that the records
had been transferred twice before eventudly residing with the SERC. To thisthe Court aso must
congder that Mr. Robert Tebay displayed a respongble attitude toward these new reporting
obligations, by attending a seminar regarding these data submissions in 1987, that he testified that he
submitted the forms in 1988, that Fire Chief Ferguson testified that the locd fire department received
these forms from Tebay in 1986 or 1987 and that, among the three entities that are to receive the
MSDSs, EPA dleges only that the Respondent failed to submit the forms to one of them, the SERC.

Even though the Court views those consderations as more than sufficient to rebut EPA’s prima
facie showing of liability for the alleged Section 311 violation, additiond factors casting doubt on the
reliability of the SERC recordswere dso rased. Thetestimony given by Ms. Muncy informed that the
SERC failed to provide any security for documents stored inits office. This fact independently casts
doubt on the reliability of the SERC' s recordkeeping practices, and lends additional support to Tebay’s

cdamthat it did indeed submit the materidsin question.** While the Court has considered EPA’s

Y¥Further, it is observed that, aside from the records being unsecured, the SERC’s own
recordkeeping history was not pristine. In response to a question from Respondent as to whether the
SERC kept a“madter ligt” of their Tier [ mailings to companies, Ms. Muncy acknowledged that such a
list was maintained but that in 1998 her computer “crashed” and they “logt every bit of information
[they] had.” Tr. 128. Beyond that, she reveded that, while the office had backup tapes for this
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argument, drawing aparadld to the issues involved in the cited TSCA cases with those presented in this
casg, it disagrees with EPA’s conclusons. The Stuations are vastly distinguishable because Tebay cast
doubt on the reliability of the SERC recordkeeping and presented testimony from fire chief Ferguson
and Robert Tebay to demondirate that it had submitted the data sheets. Accordingly, the Court finds
that Respondent, in rebuttal, made a sufficient showing evidencing the submission of MSDS™ or lists,
to the SERC and therefore, gpplying the preponderance of evidence standard, Tebay isfound not lidble
for Count I.
Counts!l and 11
Respondent’s Failure to Submit Hazar dous Chemical Inventory Formsto the SERC

In contrast to its stance for Count I, for Counts 11 and 111, Tebay has stipulated that it cannot
find any evidence to establish that it submitted Emergency Hazardous Chemicd Inventory Forms
identifying regular grade gasoline, plus grade gasoline, supreme grade gasoline, or diesd fud for the
calendar years 1994 and 1995. See Stipulations, R's Post-Hearing Brief a 2. As Tebay has
conceded the fact of violation for Counts |1 and I11, and EPA has made a prima facie showing of the
violations, the Court finds Respondent liable for these violations of EPCRA Section 312.
Determination of an Appropriate Penalty for Counts| and |1

Section 325(c)(1) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11045(c)(1), providesin relevant part that “[a]ny

information, “it turned out that the backup tapes were dso corrupt, and we didn’'t know that until after
the computer had crashed.” 1d.

>The submission of the MSDS i, absent the discovery of “significant new information
concerning an aspect of a hazardous chemica,” a onetimefiling obligation. See 42 U.S.C.§ 11021(d)
and In the Matter of Méfix, Inc., Respondent, Docket No. EPCRA-111-113, February 12, 1998, 1998
WL 99997 (E.P.A.).
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person...who violates any requirement of section 11022 [EPCRA § 312]...of thistitle shdl beliable to
the United States for acivil pendty in an amount not to exceed $25,000 for each such violation.” EPA
notes that, for violations of EPCRA Section 311 and 312, there are no Satutory factorsto be
consdered in the assessment of pendties, as the provisons establish only the maximum pendty for those
sections.’® Despite this lack of specific statutory guidance for determining a pendty, EPA did evauate
the nature, circumstances, extent and gravity of the violaions, dong with the respondent’ s ability to pay,
prior history of such violaions, the degree of culpability, any economic benefit from noncompliance, and
other matters asjustice may require. C's Post-hearing brief a 18. EPA did this by utilizing its Interim
Final Enforcement Response Policy (* Response Policy”) for EPCRA Sections 304, 311, and 312.

In its Post-hearing brief, EPA noted that, in arriving a its proposed pendlty, it had adopted the
conclusons directed by the matrices for the Response Policy. For the “extent” factor, measuring the late
filings, thistrandated into a“level 1" category for dl counts. The “nature’ of the violation consdered the
latenessaswell. For the “gravity” aspect, EPA considered the extent that the unreported gasoline
exceeded the threshold reporting amount. In this case, with 66,700 Ibs. of unleaded gasoline involved,*
and the threshold for reporting at 10,000 |bs. the amount involved was caculated to be six and one half
times greater than the threshold. The matrix, in turn, designates that amount asalevel ‘B’ gravity
category.

Once the extent and gravity determinations have been made, arange of possible pendtiesis set

6T he maximum pendty for a Section 311 violation is $10,000, while a Section 312 violation
carries a maximum $25,000 penalty.

MThis figure represents the largest quantity of fuel for any category at Tebay’ s facility; the other
gasoline grades and diesd fuel quantities were less.
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forth in the Response Policy. The “circumstances’ of the violation are then factored into the caculation
to arrive a a pendty from within the range dictated by the extent and gravity determinations. The
“circumgtances’ aspect examines the “actua or potential consequences of the violation.” C's Post-
hearing brief a 20. In thisregard EPA maintains that emergency response personnd were “at risk of
exposure’ had there been ardease and that the SERC cannot plan for a hazardous chemicd release “if
its presence a Respondent’ s facility isunknown.” 1d. at 21. EPA dso believed the * safety of the
surrounding community” was impacted by the hazardous chemicas being unknown. 1d.

For dl counts, EPA determined that, upon consideration of the ability to pay, degree of
culpability, and economic benefit, no adjustments to the pendty were appropriate. Nor did EPA fed
that any adjustment was in order under the factor of “ other matters as justice may require.” 1d. at 22.
EPA then imposed aflat pendty of $1,500 per violation for Counts 11 and 111 of the Complaint. EPA
argues that this pendity is gppropriate, maintaining that it took into account the adjustment factors
discussed above and the changes made to the regulation. 1d.*8

Although not identified as afactor in proposing a pendty, EPA’s post-hearing brief refersto
“equitableissues’ raised inthis case. Under this subject, EPA addressed the June 8, 1998 proposed
rule to amend the EPCRA reporting requirements. It acknowledges that the proposal was made before
the complaint in this matter was filed and that some four and haf months &fter the filing of the complaint a
find rule was promulgated, with the effect of rasing the threshold for reporting. This change, EPA
concedes, has the effect of making the quantity of gasoline and diesd fuel stored at Tebay’s Dairy no

longer reportable. However EPA contends this change should have no impact on the pendlty it seeks.

18See supranote 8. See dso discussion infraat 12-14.
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From its perspective, the pendty analysis should examine only whether the amount in question was
reportable a the time of the violation. To credit a Respondent with a subsequent changein the
regulation would, it argues, amount to a“windfal.” Further, EPA maintainsthat it would create “havoc”
to its enforcement schemes to treat proposed rule changes and the factua assertions set forth in the
proposds asif they were“cast in stone’ or afind rule. Such aresult, it submits, could tempt the
regulated community to disregard current rules when an agency is merely pondering a change.

Respondent opposes Complainant’ s proposed pendty for Counts |l and I11, arguing that it is
excessve. In making this argument, Respondent contends that its violation of EPCRA § 312 did not
result in any harm to the public or have any negative impact on the rights of the public or to emergency
personnel in that there was no spill of gasoline, and it was obvious to the public and emergency
responders that the Respondent stored gasoline at the Tebay facility. Respondent testified that a
Chevron sign at the ste prominently displayed prices of the various grades of gasoline and diesd fud,
and that it placed advertisements to this effect in the local newspaper. Thus, Respondent argues that the
public and emergency personnel were well aware that these chemicals were stored at the facility. Tr. at
195. Respondent dso notesthat it had not been charged with any violations of Section 312 prior to the
pending action, and that it had acted in good faith to obey the law. Additionally, Respondent observes
that, because the regulations have changed, since February 1999 it has no longer been required to report
under EPCRA Section 312, as the quantities of gasoline it stores are no longer reportable. Accordingly,
it believes that any pendty imposed should be nomind.

The Consolidated Rules of Practice governing this proceeding direct the presiding officer to

determine the amount of the recommended civil pendty based on the record evidence and in accordance
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with any pendty criteriaset forth in the gpplicable Act. Thisrequires that the judge explain in detall how
the penalty to be assessed corresponds to any pendlty criteria set forth in the Act. In addition, the judge
isto congder any civil pendty guiddinesissued under such Act, and if the judge departs from the penalty
proposed by the complainant, to provide specific reasons for any such departure. 40 C.F.R. §
22.27(b).

In determining the gppropriate pendty in this matter, the Court initialy considered the pendty
policy used by EPA, aswell asthe arguments of the parties. Having considered the policy and the
arguments for its use, the Court departs from its gpplication in thisinstance for the following reasons.
Firdt, with regard to Counts 11 and 111, Ms. Dougherty testified that she looked to the pendty policy.
However, it is clear from her testimony that she congdered her penalty assessment for Count | in
determining an appropriate pendty for Counts Il and I11. Tr. 96. For example, in measuring
Respondent’ s culpability for Counts 11 and 111, the witness folded into her analysis the dleged failure by
Respondent to submit the information required by Section 311, the section which formed the basis for
the violation aleged in Count I.  The witness did this despite the fact that Counts 11 and 111 involved
independent violations of another EPCRA provision, Section 312. Tr. 98. Apart from the questionable
practice of weaving different Counts together in determining the gppropriate penalty for distinct
violations, by not independently evauating each Count, the vadidity of the witness' evauation hinged
upon dl of the aleged vidlations being upheld. The Court, having concluded that Count | was not
proven by a preponderance of the evidence, the witness' use of the policy in this manner necessarily
causesits application to collapse for Counts 11 and 111.

Further, the witness, after agreeing that the primary purpose for passing EPCRA was for
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emergency responders, admitted that at the time she calculated the penaty she did not know that the
local fire department had the required hazardous chemica information. Tr. at 105, 107. Despite that
acknowledgment, the witness maintained she could not state whether that knowledge would have caused
her to change her pendty caculation. This response was ostensibly based on the claim that the fire
department might not know the amount of chemicals present or their location a the fadility.*® Tr. 107.

Y et, the witness then conceded that the typica gas station would not have tanks with a capacity in
excess of 600 gdlons. Tr. 108. EPA’sfailureto consder, as part of the circumstances of the violation,
the fact that the locd fire department had the required hazardous chemical information forms an
additiona basisfor the Court’ s rgjection of the gpplication of the pendty policy in this case.

Having regjected the application of the pendty policy, the Court is guided by two factorsin
assessing an appropriate pendty. Firgt, while the statutory provision for Section 312 violations provides
for pendties up to $25,000 per vidlation, EPA’s pendty andyss, though flawed by consideration of
Count |, yielded a pendty of $1,500 each for Count 11 and Count I11. Thus the EPA figures represent
the agency’ s view of the uppermost amount of an gppropriate pendty for the violationsinvolved here.
Second, to arrive at an gppropriate pendty, implicitly the Court must consider dl the circumstances
atending the violaions.

Examining these circumstances, the Court notes that although Tebay concedes the two Section
312 violations, the violations reflected in Counts I and 111 do not represent a complete failure to comply

with this section, as EPA withdrew its origina assertion that the Tier Il (*EHF’) form was not submitted

1t is dso noted that EPA’s find rule, amending these EPCRA reporting thresholds, refutes the
witness claim, aswell as EPA’ s factitious assertion that the hazardous chemicas presence was
unknown and placed emergency personnd at risk.
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to the LEPC and it had never clamed afailure to submit the EHF form to the loca fire department.

EPA testimony would indicate that, of the three entities to receive these reports, the more important
sources to have this information are the LEPC and the local fire department. Next, it is observed that
this partia failure to comply with Section 312 represents Tebay' s first EPCRA violation. Restated,
Tebay has no higtory of prior violations. Further, EPA has not aleged any associated violations with the
underground storage tank (*UST”) regulations.

Beyond these consderations, Tebay was cooperdtive with the EPA inspectors during the
ingpection of the facility.? In addition it is worth noting that Mr. Robert Tebay displayed aresponsible
attitude toward Tebay’ s EPCRA reporting duties by attending an EPCRA compliance seminar, held by
Chevron, its gasoline distributor, in 1987. 1t is aso observed that the Section 312 violation did not result
in any harm to the public; both the public and emergency responders knew that gasoline and diesd fuel
was sored a the Tebay Dairy facility by virtue of the prominent sSgns announcing thet fact.

Ladt, there is the congderation that the violations in issue here are no longer cognizable as
violations by virtue of EPA’srulemaking. At thetime of the violations of EPCRA § 312 by Respondent,

for caendar years 1994 and 1995, the reporting threshold stood at 10,000 pounds for each of the types

2\While not a basis for excusing the Section 312 violations, it seems appropriate to note that the
impetus for EPA’s inspection was for a purpose other than determining Respondent’ s compliance with
reporting for gasoline and diesd fud. Rather it was driven by the Agency’ s focus on whether facilities,
such as Tebay, had anhydrous ammonia, chlorine, sulfuric acid, nitric acid or phosphoric acid present.
Exhibit 1, attachment 2. Thus, there is some credence to Tebay’ s assertion that, once at its facility, and
discovering that Tebay was no longer adairy, EPA endeavored to find whatever other violationsiit
could. While this consderation does not operate to reduce any pendty for the violations, it is
nevertheless a circumstance surrounding the ingpection and highlights the fact that EPA was not at the
Tebay facility to ded with reports of gasoline or diesdl fuel problems.
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of gasoline and diesdl fuel Respondent tored at the Tebay facility.?! At that time Respondent stored
quantities grester than this threshold for each of the hazardous chemicals at issue. The ingpection report
shows that for calendar years 1994 and 1995, Respondent stored 66,700 pounds of regular grade
unleaded gasoline, 40,020 pounds of plus grade unleaded gasoline, 40,020 pounds of supreme grade
unleaded gasoline, and 43,500 pounds of diesel fud at the facility. C's Exhibit 1.

However, prior to the filing of the Complaint in the instant action, EPA proposed changes to 40
C.F.R. § 370.40, the regulation that defines the reporting requirements under EPCRA § 3122
Specifically, EPA proposed to increase the reporting thresholds for gasoline and diesel fudl stored
underground at retail gasoline stations. 63 Fed. Reg. 31,268 (1998). In the proposed rule, EPA
recommended increasing the reporting thresholds for al grades of gasoline combined to 75,000 gdlons
from 10,000 gallons, and to 100,000 gallonsfor diesdl fud. Id. It isnoted that athough the proposed
change to the rule was made after the violations had occurred, this was prior to thefiling of the
Complaint.?® Had these increased thresholds been in effect when Respondent committed the violations,
Respondent would not have been subject to the reporting requirements, and thus, would not have been in
violation of EPCRA 8§ 312. Infact, today, due to these changes, Respondent is not subject to the

reporting requirements under either Section 311 or Section 312.

1See supra note 9.

22See supranote 9. Carole Dougherty, who calculated the pendlty, testified that she was aware
of the proposed regulations, but stated that when she made the cal culations, she was uncertain asto
when the proposed rule actualy would be promulgated. Tr. a 109.

%3This observation should in no way be interpreted to imply that a proposed rule has any effect
on the validity or enforcement of an exigting rule.
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Inits proposed rule, EPA explained how it arrived at the decision to propose an incresse for the
reporting thresholds for gasoline and diesd fuds at retail gasoline stations. 1n making an assessment asto
whether the public would be harmed if the threshold levels were raised, EPA Stated that

[t]he public and locdl emergency officids are generdly
familiar with the location of retall gas gations, are avare
that these facilities have gasoline and diesd fud, and can
typicaly discern the generd storage location of the gasoline
and diesd fud at thefacility. Infact, retall gas Sations
prominently advertise the presence of gasoline and diesdl
fud a ther facilities, encourage the public to come on Site,

and often permit the public to dispense the gasoline and
diesd fud themsdves.

63 Fed. Reg. 31, 270 (1998).

EPA aso took into account awareness of hazards associated with gasoline and diesd fud,
concluding that both the public and emergency officids generdly understand the dangers, aswell asthe
fact that fuels Sored at retail gasoline sations typicaly are held in underground storage tanks. |d. EPA
noted that storing gasoline and diesdl fudlsin tanks that are entirely underground generdly “mitigates the
risk of catastrophic rlease.” 1d. These consderations supported EPA’ s position on increasing the
reporting thresholds. 1d. By increasing the thresholds EPA sought to “ streamling’ the reporting
requirements so that a balance could be achieved between the usefulness and the benefit of the
information reported 1d. at 31,2609.

The Court takes note of EPA’s point that consideration of a proposed rule in determining an
appropriate penaty would be completely improper. Proposed rules, as EPA expressesit, can not be
treated asif they were “cast in one” or asa“find rule” The Court agrees. However, that perspective

can not ignore the redlity that the proposed rule involved in this case in fact became afind rule eight
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months before the hearing, and that it dso became effective upon the date of publication in the Federa
Regigter. EPA opted to exempt the rule from the usud thirty day waiting period after publication in the
Federd Register and provided instead that the rule would become effective immediately.

Inthe Find Rule EPA acknowledged its longstanding awareness that the affected community
believed the reports in issue were unnecessary:

Over the years since EPCRA was enacted, EPA has heard from many
stakeholders that the section 311 and 312 reports for gasoline and diesdl
fud from retall gas dations are unnecessary for emergency planning and
community right-to-know purposes. Stakeholders have pointed out that
the public and emergency planners and responders are generaly aware of the
locations of gas sations and of the hazards of gasoline and diesd fud,
without the need for EPCRA reporting. Further, they have pointed out
that some of the information reported by retail gas Sations under EPCRA
sections 311 and 312 duplicates some of the information aready reported
under UST requirements. EPA has evauated thisissue, and bdieves that
section 311 and 312 reporting is not warranted nationwide, for gasoline
and diesd fud stored entirely underground et retail gas sationsthet arein
compliance with UST requirements.

64 Fed. Reg. 7033-7034 (1999).

Adopting the reasoning advanced at the time of the proposed rule, EPA noted that where gasoline
and died fud is stored entirely underground et retail gas stations that are in compliance with UST
requirements, a gpecia Stuation exists warranting higher reporting thresholds. This specid Stuation took
into account that public and loca emergency officids are generaly familiar with the location of retall gas
gations, that such officiads generaly are aware of the hazards associated with these fudls, that the tanks in
which such fudls are stored are usudly underground, thereby mitigating the risk of catastrophic release,
and that the underground tanks are regulated under the UST program of the Resource Conservation and

Recovery Act. 1d. at 7034.
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The Court recognizes that the Environmenta Appeds Board (“EAB” or “Board”) has discussed
the appropriate use of the “other factors as justice may require’ aspect in pendty determinations. The
Board has noted that the gpplication of this factor to reduce penalties “should be used to reduce the
pendty ‘when the other adjustment factors prove insufficient or ingppropriate to achievejusice’” Inre

Stesltech, Limited, EPCRA Appeal No. 98-6, August 26, 1999, 1999 WL 673227 (E.P.A.) quoting

from In re Spang & Co., 6 E.A.D. 226, 249-50 (EAB 1995). Seedso Inre Catdina Yachts, Inc.,

EPCRA Appeal Nos. 98-2 & 98-5, (EAB, March 24, 1999), 1999 WL 362893 (E.P.A.). Thus, the
Board' sreference to this factor has been made in the context of applying it when the other factors do not
produce ajust result. The Board aso has expressed that the circumstances for gpplication of this factor

must be such that its use not undermine the statutory scheme and that a reasonable person would

determine that failing to give some credit would be amanifest injustice. See In re: Pepperell Associates,
CWA Appeal Nos. 99-1, 99-2, May 10, 2000, 2000 WL 576426 (EPA EAB).

The Court notes that none of these cases have involved application of the “judtice” factor where
the conduct once comprising aviolation is no longer consdered aviolation. With the threshold now
raised, diminating Tebay's EPCRA reporting requirements in these circumstances, recognition of this
change in assessing the penalty can hardly be viewed as undermining the statutory scheme. To the
contrary, in the Court’ s view, failing to consider that the very conduct comprising these violationsis no
longer viewed as a violation would produce an unjust result and amount to a manifest injustice.

Inlight of EPA’s decision to raise the thresholds, it is doubtful that a gasoline retailer subject to the
old threshold levels would cause any harm to the public by failing to report. In fact, as discussed above,

Respondent displayed a Chevron sign at the facility and advertised in the local newspaper that it was a
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retail gasoline store and had gasoline and diesdl fuel on the premises. Tr. at 195. Asnoted, Tebay has
been in full compliance with the underground storage tank requirements and pays a license fee every year
to Sorethefudsat isfacility. Tr.. at 193, 195. Furthermore, no incidents have occurred at the facility

that would place the public in danger. Tr. at 276.

Conclusion
Based on the foregoing, it is determined that atotal penaty of $1,000 (One thousand dollars), i.e.
$500 (Five hundred dollars) each for Counts |1 and 111, is an appropriate amount to be assessed in this

case.

ORDER

For the reasons st forth above, Respondent, Tebay Dairy Company, is found to have violated
EPCRA § 312,42 U.S.C. 8§ 11022, as set forth in Counts |1 and |11 of the Complaint. For these
violaions acivil penaty in the amount of $500 (Five hundred dollars) is assessed for each Count. As
specified in 40 C.F.R. § 22.27, this decison condtitutes an Initid Decision which, unless gppedled in
accordance with that section or unless the Adminigtrator €lects to review the same, sua sponte, will
become the final order of the Administrator in accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 22.27(c). Payment shal be

submitted by a certified check or cashier’s check payable to Treasurer, United States of America and
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mailed to:

Médlon Bank

EPA Region 3
Regiond Hearing Clerk
P.O. Box 360515
Pittsburgh, PA 15251

A tranamittd letter identifying the subject case and the EPA docket number, plus the Respondent’s
name and address must accompany the check. Failure of the Respondent to pay the pendty within the
prescribed statutory time frame after entry of the final order may result in the assessment of interest on the
civil pendties. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 22.27(c), this Initid Decison shal become afina order forty-five
(45) days after its service upon the parties and without further proceedings unless (1) a party movesto
reopen the hearing within twenty (20) days after service of the Initial Decision, pursuant to 40 CF.R. §
22.28(a); (2) an apped to the EAB istaken from it by a party to this proceeding, pursuant to 40 C.F.R.
8 22.30(a), within thirty (30) days after the Initial Decision is served upon the parties; or (3) the EAB

elects, upon its own initiative, under 40 C.F.R. 822.30(b), to review the Initid Decison.

So Ordered.

William B. Moran
United States Adminigtrative Law Judge

Dated: November 28, 2000
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U.S EPA
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Philadelphia, PA 19103-2029
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